



# Reconstructing dS<sub>3</sub> with Wilson Lines

# Claire Zukowski<sup>*a*,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, Postbus 94485, 1090 GL Amsterdam, The Netherlands

E-mail: c.e.zukowski@uva.nl

In the Chern-Simons formulation of three-dimensional gravity, Wilson lines probe gravitational physics. Wilson lines for anti- de Sitter spacetime have been shown to reconstruct known gravitational observables such as geodesic lengths, Green's functions and the quasinormal mode spectrum. In these proceedings, we will review recent work generalizing this to de Sitter gravity. We will explain how Wilson lines can reproduce Green's functions for massive scalar fields in Euclidean de Sitter spacetime, and will give Lorentzian versions of these results by performing an analytic continuation. There is a crucial role played by endpoint states which satisfy a singlet condition. The existence of exact results for su(2) Wilson loops from non-abelian localization suggests that the quantization of the Wilson line may be more tractable in de Sitter compared to anti- de Sitter spacetime.

Corfu Summer Institute 2021 "School and Workshops on Elementary Particle Physics and Gravity" 29 August - 9 October 2021 Corfu, Greece

#### \*Speaker

<sup>©</sup> Copyright owned by the author(s) under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0).

# Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Review of Chern-Simons theory and Wilson lines for AdS <sub>3</sub>	3
3	Ishibashi states	4
4	Why de Sitter?	5
5	Euclidean EdS <sub>3</sub>	6
	5.1 Step 1: Build representations	6
	5.2 Step 2: Construct singlet states	8
	5.3 Step 3: Evaluate Wilson line	8
6	Local fields	9
7	Analytic continuation to Lorentzian dS <sub>3</sub>	10
8	Discussion	13

# 1. Introduction

Even classical gravity in de Sitter spacetime can be subtle. Quantum gravity in de Sitter spacetime is even more confusing for many reasons. For instance, the finite de Sitter entropy suggests that the quantum description of de Sitter should be encoded by a Hilbert space with only a finite number of states. In the known realization of holography in terms of a higher-spin theory [1], the boundary theory also lives at an instance of *time* instead of at a spatial boundary. The extent to which this should be viewed as a full quantum theory, rather than some statistical description, remains puzzling. This is not to even mention puzzles of the late-time behavior of de Sitter vacua, which generically undergo eternal inflation, leading to a measure problem [2]. Since de Sitter spacetime approximates the current phase of our universe, it is essential that we adapt our toolkit of holography and quantum gravity to this case.

The Chern-Simons formulation of three-dimensional gravity has long been an avenue for tackling questions of quantization of gravity [3, 4]. A natural observable from the Cherns-Simons perspective is a Wilson loop, or if one does not insist on gauge-invariance, a Wilson line. Moving beyond the semi-classical description of a Wilson line in a fixed background, we can also consider the quantum generalization where the metric is allowed to fluctuate. Interestingly, whereas de Sitter gravity has often turned out to be more subtle than its anti- de Sitter counterpart, this is an avenue where it is possible to gain comparatively *more* traction in de Sitter. For instance, EdS<sub>3</sub> has isometry

algebra  $so(4) \approx su(2) \times su(2)$ . In the Chern-Simons formulation, this is the gauge algebra. su(2) is a compact algebra, and there are more mathematical results to draw on than for non-compact algebras. For instance, there exist exact results from non-abelian localization for the Chern-Simons path integral and also the Wilson loop expectation value [5–7]. This can potentially give us a handle on fully exact results and their gravitational duals. In contrast, in the anti- de Sitter case progress in computing the full Wilson line has only been made perturbatively in 1/c, with c the central charge of the dual conformal field theory [8].

The bulk of these proceedings consists of a pedagogical review of [9]. Many details of the construction can be found in that paper; here the aim is to avoid technicalities in favor of giving a straightforward overview of applications of Wilson lines to de Sitter gravity. This includes shortcuts for readability, along with some additional background. There will also be some allusions to further developments as well as connections with other aspects of de Sitter gravity treated at the workshop. In the spirit of the workshop, it is also interesting to learn what the representations used to build Wilson lines have to tell us about standard representations of so(d + 1, 1) that can be used to construct fields in de Sitter spacetime (see [10] for a recent review). This, along with the study of the quantum case and its gravitational description, is the subject of work in progress [11].

# 2. Review of Chern-Simons theory and Wilson lines for AdS<sub>3</sub>

We will begin with a very brief review of Chern-Simons theory and the role of Wilson lines as gravitational probes for anti- de Sitter (AdS) spacetime. There is a classical equivalence between 3d gravity in AdS and Chern-Simons theory with gauge algebra  $so(2,2) \simeq sl(2) \times sl(2)$  [4]. Specifically, consider two copies of the sl(2) Chern-Simons action

$$S = S_{CS}[A] - S_{CS}[\bar{A}] \tag{1}$$

with

$$S_{CS}[A] = \frac{k}{4\pi} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \operatorname{Tr}\left(A \wedge dA + \frac{2}{3}A \wedge A \wedge A\right) , \qquad (2)$$

where  $A \in sl(2)_L$ ,  $\bar{A} \in sl(2)_R$ . This is equal to the three-dimensional Einstein-Hilbert gravitational action for AdS with curvature radius  $\ell$  and gravitational constant  $G_3$ , given a Chern-Simons coupling k related to these parameters as

$$k = \frac{\ell}{4G_3} \,. \tag{3}$$

The gauge theory has Wilson loop observables

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(C) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathscr{R}}\left(\mathscr{P}e^{-\oint_{C}A}\mathscr{P}e^{-\oint\bar{A}}\right), \qquad (4)$$

where *C* is a closed loop in AdS. The representations  $\mathscr{R}$  we consider for gravitational applications are highest-weight sl(2) representations. Given sl(2) generators  $J_0, J_{\pm}$  in the raising and lowering basis, these are constructed by starting from a highest weight state  $|h, 0\rangle$  satisfying

$$J_{+}|h,0\rangle = 0$$
,  $J_{0}|h,0\rangle = h|h,0\rangle$ , (5)

with the remaining states in the representation generated through successive action of the lowering operator,  $|h, k\rangle \propto (J_{-})^{k} |h, 0\rangle$ . These representations have a Casimir  $c_{2} = h(h-1)$ .

The Wilson loop can be viewed as the partition function for an auxiliary quantum system associated to the curve *C* [12]. The Hilbert space for this system is identified with the representation  $\mathscr{R}$ , and the trace in Eq. (4) is just the usual quantum mechanical trace over the Hilbert space. This partition function can be evaluated semiclassically through a version of the orbit method [6, 7]

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(x_i, x_f) = \int \mathcal{D}U e^{-S(U, A, \bar{A})_C} .$$
(6)

Here U is an auxiliary field associated to the curve C, coupled to the background connections A,  $\overline{A}$ . The explicit construction of the action for  $S(U, A, \overline{A})_C$  for AdS can be found in [13].

It will be useful for us to consider Wilson lines rather than loops. These are not observables in the same sense, as introducing endpoints means they are no longer gauge invariant. Let  $|U_i\rangle$ ,  $|U_f\rangle \in \mathcal{R}$  be endpoint states. Then the Wilson line can be expressed as

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(x_i, x_f) = \left\langle U_f \left| \mathscr{P} e^{-\int_{\gamma} A} \mathscr{P} e^{-\int_{\gamma} \bar{A}} \left| U_i \right\rangle \right.$$
(7)

where  $\gamma$  is a bulk curve with endpoints  $x_i, x_f$ .

The Wilson line has a bulk gravitational interpretation. It probes the physics of a point particle moving from  $x_i$  to  $x_f$  with

$$m^2 = c_2 + \bar{c}_2$$
,  $s = h - \bar{h}$ ,  $c_2 = h(h - 1)$ . (8)

On-shell with U = 1, the action in Eq. (6) computes the geodesic distance between  $x_i, x_f$  [13].

It also has a boundary interpretation, when we take  $x_i, x_f$  to the boundary of AdS. Then the Wilson line computes the correlator

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(x_i, x_f) = \left\langle \psi | O(x_i) O(x_f) | \psi \right\rangle .$$
(9)

Here  $\psi$  is a heavy state dual to the gauge fields  $A, \overline{A}$  that describe the bulk geometry, and O(x) is a light operator with scaling dimension  $(h, \overline{h})$  coming from the representation.

#### 3. Ishibashi states

When considering Wilson lines as opposed to loops, the boundary states  $|U_i\rangle$ ,  $|U_f\rangle$  are an additional input. What is a natural choice for these states? Although there are many possibilities, we consider a choice of states suitable if it reproduces gravitational physics. An appropriate choice is to consider *Ishibashi states* [14–16] (see also [17] for another application to bulk physics). More specifically, we consider two possibilities, the Ishibashi state,  $|\Sigma_{Ish}\rangle$ , and the crosscap state,  $|\Sigma_{cross}\rangle$ . These are defined as satisfying the condition for  $J_a \in sl(2)_L$ ,  $\bar{J}_a \in sl(2)_R$  and for  $a = 0, \pm 1$ ,

$$J_a - \bar{J}_{-a} \left| \Sigma_{\rm Ish} \right\rangle = 0 , \qquad (10)$$

$$J_a - (-1)^a \bar{J}_{-a} \left| \Sigma_{\text{cross}} \right\rangle = 0 . \tag{11}$$

Through these conditions, the singlet states can be seen as a way to tie together the barred and unbarred representations. As long as one considers expectation values in these singlet states, barred generators can be substituted for suitable unbarred generators (possibly up to a phase) and vice versa.

While these equations cannot be solved by finite sums of states in the representation, it is possible to take infinite sums of states. In terms of states  $|h, k, \bar{k}\rangle = |h, k, \rangle \otimes |h, \bar{k}\rangle$  for the full representation combining both barred and unbarred copies, the solutions are

$$|\Sigma_{\text{Ish}}\rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |h, k, k\rangle , \qquad |\Sigma_{\text{cross}}\rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k |h, k, k\rangle .$$
(12)

With this solution for the Ishibashi state, one can compute the AdS<sub>3</sub> Wilson line explicitly [16]. Schematically, the result is

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(x_i, x_f) = \text{character associated to the representation } \mathscr{R}$$
  
= Green's function between  $x_i, x_f$ . (13)

These are two fairly universal relations that we would like to highlight in these proceedings. As we will see, similar statements can be made for Wilson lines in de Sitter, but with slight differences and subtleties. We would also like to understand exactly *how* the Green's function can be reproduced for de Sitter, specifically in terms of which representations and endpoint states are necessary to use in the construction.

## 4. Why de Sitter?

It may seem like a pedagogical exercise to repeat this analysis for de Sitter, but in fact there is something to learn by using Wilson lines as tools to probe bulk physics in de Sitter spacetime. Can we reproduce the subtleties of de Sitter gravity? Such subtleties exist even classically, for instance the Green's function and smearing functions for  $dS_3$  do not result simply from analytic continuation of their AdS<sub>3</sub> counterparts [18–20]. Is there a way to reproduce Green's functions and smearing functions in de Sitter? As we will see, our Wilson line analysis allows us to see clearly how these differences appear in the Chern-Simons language, in terms of duplicate contributing representations.

The advantage of studying de Sitter gravity using Wilson lines also extends beyond the classical analysis. There exist results in AdS<sub>3</sub> for quantizing a Wilson line order by order in 1/c [8]. But in fact, in the Chern-Simons approach de Sitter spacetime is a better starting point for quantizing a Wilson line. This is because there exist exact results from nonabelian localization and other methods for su(2) Chern-Simons theory, which is the gauge algebra relevant for EdS<sub>3</sub> [5–7]. This is analogous to the past use of exact results in Chern-Simons theory to match the 1-loop Euclidean gravitational partition function [21]. When considering Wilson lines, the main subtlety comes from the need to use non-unitary representations for de Sitter, as we will see in Section 5.1. The application of exact results to the quantization of de Sitter Wilson lines will be treated in further detail in [11].

Of course, there are also numerous subtleties that come up in any treatment of de Sitter gravity. For instance, in the Lorenztian  $dS_3$  case it is natural to attach the boundaries of Wilson lines to future timelike infinity, but unlike for AdS there is no CFT there to set boundary conditions.

## 5. Euclidean EdS<sub>3</sub>

To probe gravity in de Sitter using Wilson lines, we start by considering three-dimensional Euclidean de Sitter (EdS<sub>3</sub>), which is just a three-sphere,  $S^3$ . EdS<sub>3</sub> has isometry algebra  $so(4) \approx su(2) \times su(2)$ , thus we consider su(2) Chern-Simons theory.

The description of EdS<sub>3</sub> gravity using Chern-Simons theory proceeds similarly to the negative cosmological constant case, but with a different gauge algebra. Consider two copies of the su(2) Chern-Simons action

$$S = S_{CS}[A] - S_{CS}[\bar{A}] \tag{14}$$

with

$$S_{CS}[A] = -\frac{k}{4\pi} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \operatorname{Tr}\left(A \wedge dA + \frac{2}{3}A \wedge A \wedge A\right) , \qquad (15)$$

where  $A \in su(2)_L$ ,  $\bar{A} \in su(2)_R$ . One can check that this likewise reduces to the three-dimensional EdS<sub>3</sub> Einstein-Hilbert gravitational action with curvature radius  $\ell$  and gravitational constant  $G_3$ , given a Chern-Simons coupling taken to be

$$k = \frac{\ell}{4G_3} \,. \tag{16}$$

Now let us consider the geometry of  $EdS_3$ . The metric on the three-sphere can be written in Hopf coordinates as

$$\frac{ds^2}{\ell^2} = dr^2 + \cos^2 r d\tau^2 + \sin^2 r d\phi^2 .$$
 (17)

We can relate this to the Chern-Simons connections  $A, \overline{A}$  through the relation

$$g_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\ell^2}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ (A_{\mu} - \bar{A}_{\mu}) (A_{\nu} - \bar{A}_{\nu}) \right] \,. \tag{18}$$

The connections can be related to group elements

$$A = g_L dg_L^{-1}, \qquad \bar{A} = \tilde{g}_R^{-1} d\tilde{g}_R.$$
<sup>(19)</sup>

We can in particular make the choice

$$g_L = e^{-irL_2} e^{-i(\phi+\tau)L_3}, \qquad \tilde{g}_R = e^{i(\phi-\tau)L_3} e^{-irL_2}.$$
(20)

These define connections that reproduce the metric for the three-sphere in the coordinates given by Eq. (17).

We can now evaluate de Sitter Wilson lines in three steps.

#### 5.1 Step 1: Build representations

To probe gravitational physics in EdS<sub>3</sub> using Wilson lines, we must construct infinite dimensional su(2) representations. Since unitary su(2) representations are finite dimensional, this means we must construct non-unitary representations.

The su(2) algebra is

$$[L_i, L_j] = i\epsilon_{ijk}L_k . (21)$$

Expressed in terms of raising and lowering operators  $L_{\pm} = L_1 \pm iL_2$ ,  $L_0 = L_3$ , this is

$$[L_0, L_{\pm}] = \pm L_{\pm} , \qquad [L_+, L_-] = 2L_0 . \tag{22}$$

The simplest way to get a non-unitary representation, maintaining consistency with the commutation relations, is to take  $L_3$  to be Hermitian and  $L_{1,2}$  anti-Hermitian, in other words

$$L_{\pm}^{\dagger} = -L_{\mp} , \qquad L_{0}^{\dagger} = L_{0} .$$
 (23)

We can now construct non-unitary highest weight representations. We start with the highest weight state defined through

$$L_+ \left| l, 0 \right\rangle = 0 , \tag{24}$$

$$L_0 |l, 0\rangle = l |l, 0\rangle . \tag{25}$$

Then we successively build the remaining states by acting with lowering operators  $|l, p\rangle \propto (L_{-})^{p} |l, 0\rangle$ . The proportionality constant can be determined by relating the overlap of states, subject to the unit normalization of the highest weight state.

The Casimir for these representations can be determined by squaring the condition, Eq. (43), requiring that the highest weight state is annihilated by the raising operator. It is given by

$$L^{2}|l,p\rangle = c_{2}|l,p\rangle$$
,  $c_{2} = l(l+1)$ . (26)

One can also check that with the choices above, all states in the representation have a positive norm.

The representations have an associated character

$$\operatorname{ch}(\mathscr{R}) = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \langle l, p | e^{i\alpha L_0} | l, p \rangle = \frac{e^{i\alpha(l+1)}}{e^{i\alpha} - 1} .$$
(27)

This will be useful to compare to once we compute the Wilson line.

From the gravitational perspective, there are two defining properties of these representations:

**Negative Casimir**: Imposing that the norm of all states is positive implies l < 0. We have a negative Casimir in the window -1 < l < 0, which corresponds to

$$-\frac{1}{2} < c_2 < 0.$$
 (28)

It will turn out that in order to match an appropriate Green's function, the Casimir should be related to the mass as  $c_2 = -m^2 \ell^2/4$ . Thus, to reproduce gravitational physics, it is necessary to use representations such as these that have a negative Casimir in some window.

Two representations with fixed Casimir: Inverting the Casimir Eq. (26) for l, we have

$$l_{\pm} = -\frac{1 \pm \sqrt{1 + 4c_2}}{2} \ . \tag{29}$$

There are in fact two solutions in the window Eq. (28). We define the two distinct representations that contribute within this window to be

$$\mathscr{R}_{+}: \quad -1 < l_{+} < -\frac{1}{2} , \qquad (30)$$

$$\mathscr{R}_{-}: -\frac{1}{2} < l_{-} < 0.$$
 (31)

With the choice  $c_2 = -m^2 \ell^2/4$ , one can already start to recognize  $l_{\pm}$  in Eq. (29) as parameters that appear in the EdS<sub>3</sub> Green's function [20].

## 5.2 Step 2: Construct singlet states

We now must make a suitable choice of endpoint states to use to evaluate our de Sitter Wilson lines. In analogy to the sl(2) case for AdS, we consider Ishibashi and crosscap states defined by the condition for  $L_a \in su(2)_L$ ,  $\bar{L}_a \in su(2)_R$ , with  $a = 0, \pm 1$ ,

$$L_a - \bar{L}_{-a} \left| \Sigma_{\rm Ish} \right\rangle = 0 , \qquad (32)$$

$$L_a - (-1)^a \bar{L}_{-a} \left| \Sigma_{\text{cross}} \right\rangle = 0.$$
(33)

In terms of states  $|l, p, \bar{p}\rangle = |l, p, \rangle \otimes |l, \bar{p}\rangle$  for the full representation, the solutions are given by the infinite sums

$$|\Sigma_{\rm Ish}\rangle = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} (-1)^p |l, p, p\rangle , \qquad (34)$$

$$|\Sigma_{\rm cross}\rangle = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} |l, p, p\rangle \quad . \tag{35}$$

The result appears similar to Eq. (5.1) for the AdS<sub>3</sub> case. Besides the use of different representations, one difference is that the phase  $(-1)^p$  now appears in the sum for the Ishibashi state, rather than the crosscap state.

## 5.3 Step 3: Evaluate Wilson line

It remains to evaluate the Wilson line, and we now have all the ingredients required to perform an explicit computation. We start by taking group elements, Eq. (20), and the connections, Eq. (19). The Wilson line with Ishibashi state endpoints is given by

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(x_i, x_f) = \langle \Sigma_{\text{Ish}} | \mathscr{P}e^{-\int_{\gamma} A} \mathscr{P}e^{-\int_{\gamma} \bar{A}} | \Sigma_{\text{Ish}} \rangle .$$
(36)

We can evaluate the path ordered exponentials in terms of the group elements evaluated at the endpoints,

$$\mathscr{P}e^{-\int_{\gamma}A} = g_L(x_f)g_L(x_i)^{-1}, \qquad \mathscr{P}e^{-\int_{\gamma}\bar{A}} = g_R(x_f)^{-1}g_R(x_i).$$
(37)

Using the explicit group elements for  $S^3$  given in Eq. (20), the explicit endpoint states Eq. (34), and evaluating in Eq. (36), this gives

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(x_i, x_f) = \frac{e^{i\alpha(l+1)}}{e^{i\alpha} - 1}, \qquad (38)$$

where

$$\cos\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right) = \cos\left(r_f\right)\cos\left(r_i\right)\cos\left(\tau_f - \tau_i\right) + \sin(r_f)\sin(r_i)\cos\left(\phi_f - \phi_i\right)$$
(39)

is related to the invariant distance on  $S^3$ . But this is just the character, Eq. (27), associated to the non-unitary su(2) representations,

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(x_i, x_f) = \operatorname{ch}(\mathscr{R}) . \tag{40}$$

The result is directly analogous to the  $AdS_3$  case, except that here the character is the one associated to the non-unitary su(2) representations we used for the EdS<sub>3</sub> Wilson line.

Likewise, one can check that the Wilson line can also be related to the Euclidean Green's function  $G(\Theta)$  for a scalar field on  $S^3$  with mass  $m^2 \ell^2 = -4c_2$ ,

$$G(\Theta) = a_{-l} W_{\mathcal{R}_{+}}(x_{i}, x_{f}) + a_{-l-1} W_{\mathcal{R}_{-}}(x_{i}, x_{f}) .$$
(41)

Here  $\Theta$  is the invariant distance between the endpoint coordinates  $x_i$  and  $x_f$  of the Wilson line. As was suggested earlier, the mass is directly related to the Casimir of the contributing representations, which must be *negative* in order to reproduce the Green's function. Unlike for the AdS<sub>3</sub> case, here for de Sitter one needs *both* representations contributing to a fixed Casimir to relate the Wilson line to the Euclidean Green's function.

## 6. Local fields

We can also probe gravitational physics directly from the representations we used to evaluate the Wilson line. In this section, we will give a schematic overview of the construction that involves taking some shortcuts. The details and careful treatment can be found in [9].

Represent the  $su(2)_L$ ,  $su(2)_R$  generators as Killing vectors  $\mathcal{L}_a$ ,  $\overline{\mathcal{L}}_a$  of the three-sphere

$$L_a, \bar{L}_a \to \mathcal{L}_a, \bar{\mathcal{L}}_a$$
 (42)

Likewise, we can promote the states in the representation constructed in Section 5.1 to fields,

$$|\ell; p, \bar{p}\rangle \to \Phi_{p, \bar{p}}$$
 (43)

By combining the action of the raising and lowering operators on fields, the Casimir equation gives

$$(\nabla^2 + \bar{\nabla}^2)\Phi_{p,\bar{p}}(x) = 2l(l+1)\Phi_{p,\bar{p}}(x) , \qquad (44)$$

where  $\nabla^2 = \delta^{ab} \mathcal{L}_a \mathcal{L}_b$  and likewise for the barred copy. Thus the  $\Phi_{p,\bar{p}}$  are just local fields<sup>1</sup> on the three-sphere.

These local fields can also be solved for explicitly. The highest weight conditions become

$$\mathcal{L}_{+}\Phi_{0,0} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{L}_{0}\Phi_{0,0} = l\Phi_{0,0}, \qquad (45)$$

and the full set of fields can be built from  $\Phi_{0,0}$  by acting using lowering operators  $\mathcal{L}_{-}, \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{-}$  on this highest weight state. One can solve Eq. (43), and then explicitly act by lowering operators

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>More precisely, we call these "pseudo-fields" since both representations are necessary to form a complete basis.

in differential operator form. The solutions  $\Phi_{p,\bar{p}}$  are simply the quasinormal modes on the threesphere.

We can define a state  $|U(x)\rangle$  expanded over the representation,

$$|U(x)\rangle = g_L^{-1}(x)g_R(x)|\Sigma_{\rm Ish}\rangle$$
(46)

$$= \sum_{p,\bar{p}=0} \Phi_{p,\bar{p}}^*(x) \, |l,p,\bar{p}\rangle \ . \tag{47}$$

One can check that the Wilson line is simply the overlap

$$W_{\mathscr{R}}(x_i, x_f) = \left\langle U(\tau_f, r_f, \phi_f + \pi) \middle| U(\tau_i, r_i, \phi_i) \right\rangle . \tag{48}$$

The extra shift in  $\pi$  in the angular direction is necessary as a result of the use of non-unitary representations in the de Sitter case, and is not present in the AdS case.

By comparing Eqs. (47) and (34) and using the explicit expression for quasinormal modes on the three-sphere, we can represent the Ishibashi state as

$$|\Sigma_{\rm Ish}\rangle = \sum_{p,\bar{p}} \Phi_{p,\bar{p}}^*(\tau=0,r=0) |l,p,\bar{p}\rangle = |U(\tau=0,r=0)\rangle , \qquad (49)$$

and thus it describes a state situated on  $(r = 0, \tau = 0)$  of the three-sphere. Of course, this result is gauge ambiguous and depends on our choice of coordinates.

#### 7. Analytic continuation to Lorentzian dS<sub>3</sub>

Ultimately we wish to use Wilson lines to probe gravity in Lorentzian  $dS_3$  spacetime. To reproduce local bulk fields in this case, we now perform an analytic continuation from the three-sphere implemented by the Wick rotation

$$\tau \to \frac{it}{\ell}$$
 (50)

One can also implement this Wick rotation on the Killing vectors and fields  $\Phi_{p,\bar{p}}$ , and work out how the representation transforms. This is summarized in Table 1. It turns out that the non-unitary  $su(2)_L \times su(2)_R$  representation,  $\mathcal{R}$ , we constructed to obtain gravitational physics from Wilson lines on the three-sphere nicely transforms under this Wick rotation to a unitary  $sl(2)_L \times sl(2)_R$ representation,  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ , with generators  $\mathcal{H}_0$ ,  $\mathcal{H}_{\pm}$  and a barred copy that are entirely Hermitian.

After analytic continuation, the fields lie in highest weight sl(2) representations with Casimir h(h-1), where h = -l (analogously, h = l + 1 for  $\tilde{\mathscr{R}}_{-}$ ). They solve the dS<sub>3</sub> wave equation

$$(\nabla^2 + \bar{\nabla}^2)\Phi_{p,\bar{p}} = 2h(h-1)\Phi_{p,\bar{p}} , \qquad (51)$$

where  $\nabla^2 = -\eta^{ab} \mathcal{H}_a \mathcal{H}_b$ , and likewise for the barred copy, are related to the de Sitter Laplacian as  $\nabla^2 + \bar{\nabla}^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \nabla^2_{dS_3}$ . Like for the Euclidean case, the fields can be constructed explicitly starting with the highest weight state which solves

$$\mathcal{H}_{+}\Phi_{0,0} = 0 , \qquad \mathcal{H}_{0}\Phi_{0,0} = h\Phi_{0,0} , \qquad (52)$$

EdS <sub>3</sub>	dS <sub>3</sub>
$SO(4) \simeq SU(2) \times SU(2)$ Chern-Simons	$SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ Chern-Simons
Non-unitary highest weight $su(2)$ representations	Unitary highest weight $sl(2)$ representations

Table 1: The analytic continuation from EdS<sub>3</sub> to dS<sub>3</sub>.

and likewise for the barred operators, with the additional modes constructed by successive action of lowering operators  $\mathcal{H}_{-}$ ,  $\bar{\mathcal{H}}_{-}$ . The solutions are just quasinormal modes for Lorentzian dS<sub>3</sub>.

In the Chern-Simons description of three-dimensional gravity, whether for AdS<sub>3</sub>, EdS<sub>3</sub> or dS<sub>3</sub>, it is necessary for the isometry algebra to be separable into two copies of a gauge algebra, over which the unbarred and barred gauge fields can be expanded. In the Euclidean dS<sub>3</sub> case it is possible to take purely real linear combinations of the generators of the isometry algebra, the Euclidean Poincaré algebra, to form two copies of the su(2) algebra. For Lorentzian dS<sub>3</sub>, the isometry algebra is the Lorentzian Poincaré algebra, and this does not separate into two copies of sl(2) unless one takes complex linear combinations of the generators of the Poincaré algebra. Thus, to describe dS<sub>3</sub>, it is necessary to consider gauge fields  $\mathcal{A}, \bar{\mathcal{A}}$  that are elements of the complex gauge algebra  $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ . It is typical to additionally specify a condition relating the gauge field  $\mathcal{A}$  to the complex conjugate of  $\bar{\mathcal{A}}$ . Then two copies of the  $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$  Chern-Simons action with purely imaginary Chern-Simons couplings *is* can be shown to reduce to the Lorentzian dS<sub>3</sub> gravitational action with de Sitter radius  $\ell$  and gravitational constant  $G_3$  given the matching  $s = \ell/(4G_3)$  [22].

It is now possible to repeat the analysis of Sections 5.2-5.3, but using the analytically continued representations and  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  Chern-Simons theory. The Ishibashi states satisfying the analogue of Eq. (32) for the Lorentzian representations are

$$|\Sigma_{\text{Ish}}\rangle = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} |h, p, p\rangle , \qquad (53)$$

$$|\Sigma_{\text{cross}}\rangle = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} (-1)^p |h, p, p\rangle .$$
(54)

For these unitary sl(2) representations, the phase  $(-1)^p$  now appears for the crosscap state rather than the Ishibashi state, thus more closely resembling the original AdS<sub>3</sub> case compared to the EdS<sub>3</sub> case with non-unitary su(2) representations.

The Wilson line can also be computed explicitly. In [9], this was done for the inflationary patch of de Sitter. Using the endpoint Ishibashi state, Eq. (53), and  $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$  Chern-Simons connections that describe the metric in these coordinates, the Wilson line again computes a character, but now for the analytically continued representations,

$$W_{\tilde{\mathscr{R}}}(x_i, x_f) = \operatorname{ch}(\tilde{\mathscr{R}}) .$$
(55)

Likewise, the Wilson line can be matched to the dS<sub>3</sub> Euclidean Green's function  $G(\Theta)$  for a scalar of mass  $m^2 \ell^2 = -4c_2$ , where  $\Theta$  is the invariant distance between endpoints  $x_i, x_f$  of the Wilson line:

$$G(\Theta) = a_h W_{\tilde{\mathscr{B}}_{*}}(x_i, x_f) + a_{1-h} W_{\tilde{\mathscr{B}}_{*}}(x_i, x_f) .$$
(56)

Notably, as for the EdS<sub>3</sub> case, both representations in the window with a fixed Casimir h(h - 1) contribute to the Green's function, whereas only a single representation appears for AdS<sub>3</sub>.

Finally, we touch briefly on bulk reconstruction for de Sitter. By solving the wave equation in various asymptotically AdS spacetimes, the usual HKLL construction for AdS [23, 24] allows for the classical reconstruction of bulk fields  $\Phi(x)$  in terms of a smeared integral of boundary operators O(y) that are spacelike separated from the bulk point *x*,

$$\Phi(x) = \int dy' K(x; y') \mathcal{O}(y') .$$
(57)

The kernel K(x; y) here is known as a smearing function, and it depends on the specifics of the bulk geometry. While it is known in many cases, there also exist certain coordinate systems such as Rindler-AdS for which there are obstructions to the construction [25].

There are subtleties when considering smearing functions for de Sitter spacetime. For the inflationary patch of dS<sub>3</sub>, one might imagine a similar construction relating bulk fields to integrals smeared over operators at future timelike infinity. In this case, in order to reproduce the Euclidean Green's function from the two-point function of the bulk scalar [20], Ref. [18] (see also [19, 26, 27]) in fact argued that there must be two contributions to this smearing. The field  $\Phi(x)$  at a bulk point *x* can be schematically reconstructed as

$$\Phi(x) = \int dy' K_{+}(x; y') O_{+}(y') + \int dy' K_{-}(x; y') O_{-}(y') , \qquad (58)$$

where

$$\Delta_{\pm} = 1 \pm \sqrt{1 - m^2 \ell^2} , \qquad (59)$$

and  $O_{\pm}(y)$  are the boundary limits of the positive and negative frequency bulk modes with the divergent factor stripped off. There are contributions not only from the normalizable part  $O_{+}$  dual to  $\Phi$ , but also from the shadow operator with scaling dimension  $\Delta_{-} = 2 - \Delta_{+}$ . The appearance of both falloffs is reminiscent of our result, Eq. (56). There, unlike for AdS, we needed to consider Wilson lines associated to two different representations with fixed Casimir in order to correctly reconstruct the Green's function.

In AdS<sub>3</sub>, there is an alternate approach to deriving the smearing function that uses Wilson lines [28]. In this method, one starts by noticing that the Ishibashi state lives at a localized bulk point, thus it describes a local bulk field in terms of sums over states in the representation. By applying the state-operator correspondence, one can relate these states to operators inserted at the origin in the CFT,  $|h, p, \bar{p}\rangle = O(0, 0) |0\rangle$ . The Ishibashi state, Eq. (53), becomes

$$|\Sigma_{\text{Ish}}\rangle = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(2h)}{\Gamma(p+1)\Gamma(p+2h)} \mathcal{H}_{-1}^{p} \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{-1}^{p} \mathcal{O}(0,0) |0\rangle \quad .$$
(60)

Acting on this by isometries, one can translate the Ishibashi state to an arbitrary point in the bulk, thus describing any local bulk field. Some further algebraic manipulations allow one to take this to the form, Eq. (57). In de Sitter, the existence of a state-operator correspondence would rely on a dS/CFT correspondence and is far from clear, however it is highly suggestive to consider performing a similar series of steps. If one does, the need for two representations in the Ishibashi construction for de Sitter directly translates to the two contributions in Eq. (58).

#### 8. Discussion

We have reviewed how Wilson lines evaluated in non-unitary su(2) representations (and their unitary sl(2) counterparts after analytic continuation) can be used to evaluate Green's functions and construct local fields in both EdS<sub>3</sub> and Lorentzian dS<sub>3</sub> spacetime. An interesting further avenue is to apply exact results for the expectation value of Wilson loops to infer quantum versions of the Wilson line, and explore its gravitational interpretation [11].

Other approaches that use Chern-Simons theory to probe gravitational physics in de Sitter include [29–31]. In our setting, we specifically found a crucial role played by non-unitary su(2) representations. These representations, which describe the quasinormal modes, are useful in the context of Chern-Simons theory. However, due to a different Hermiticity choice, they differ from the usual representations that describe non-exotic scalar fields in de Sitter—the complementary and principal series of so(d + 1, 1). They nonetheless seem to be useful to describe local bulk physics for such fields in de Sitter (analogously, the appearance of the quasinormal mode spectrum in characters related to one-loop partition functions was noted in [32–34]). It will be interesting to further understand the uses and limitations of Chern-Simons theory, which naturally involves representations that split into barred and unbarred copies, to describe observables built from the usual representations for de Sitter gravity.

This work should be extended beyond the scalar case, and there are some questions that arise in this context. For instance, de Sitter spacetime admits a rich representation theory [10, 35–37], including representations describing exotic fields such as partially massless gravitons that do not appear in flat spacetime [38, 39]. One might ask if it is possible to use Wilson lines to probe such physics.

Finally, it would also be interesting to explore further the role of the two representations,  $\mathscr{R}_{\pm}$  (and  $\tilde{\mathscr{R}}_{\pm}$  in the Lorentzian case). A better understanding of the quantization of the Wilson line might elucidate this issue. It would be particularly interesting to consider the role of these dual representations within a concrete microscopic Hilbert space description for de Sitter.

# References

- D. Anninos, T. Hartman and A. Strominger, *Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence, Class. Quant. Grav.* 34 (2017), no. 1 015009 [1108.5735].
- [2] A. H. Guth, *Eternal inflation and its implications*, J. Phys. A 40 (2007) 6811–6826 [hep-th/0702178].
- [3] A. Achucarro and P. K. Townsend, A Chern-Simons Action for Three-Dimensional anti-De Sitter Supergravity Theories, Phys. Lett. B 180 (1986) 89.
- [4] E. Witten, (2+1)-Dimensional Gravity as an Exactly Soluble System, Nucl. Phys. B311 (1988) 46.
- [5] C. Beasley and E. Witten, Non-Abelian localization for Chern-Simons theory, J. Diff. Geom. 70 (2005), no. 2 183–323 [hep-th/0503126].

- [6] C. Beasley, Remarks on Wilson Loops and Seifert Loops in Chern-Simons Theory, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. 50 (2011) 1–17 [1012.5064].
- [7] C. Beasley, Localization for Wilson Loops in Chern-Simons Theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 17 (2013), no. 1 1–240 [0911.2687].
- [8] A. L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, D. Li and J. Wang, Exact Virasoro Blocks from Wilson Lines and Background-Independent Operators, JHEP 07 (2017) 092 [1612.06385].
- [9] A. Castro, P. Sabella-Garnier and C. Zukowski, *Gravitational Wilson Lines in 3D de Sitter*, *JHEP* 07 (2020) 202 [2001.09998].
- [10] Z. Sun, A note on the representations of SO(1, d + 1), 2111.04591.
- [11] A. Castro, I. Coman, J. R. Fliss and C. Zukowski. To appear.
- [12] E. Witten, Quantum Field Theory and the Jones Polynomial, Commun. Math. Phys. 121 (1989) 351–399.
- [13] M. Ammon, A. Castro and N. Iqbal, Wilson Lines and Entanglement Entropy in Higher Spin Gravity, JHEP 1310 (2013) 110 [1306.4338].
- [14] N. Ishibashi, The Boundary and Crosscap States in Conformal Field Theories, Mod. Phys. Lett. A4 (1989) 251.
- [15] J. L. Cardy, Boundary conformal field theory, hep-th/0411189.
- [16] A. Castro, N. Iqbal and E. Llabrés, Wilson lines and Ishibashi states in AdS<sub>3</sub>/CFT<sub>2</sub>, JHEP 09 (2018) 066 [1805.05398].
- [17] H. Verlinde, Poking Holes in AdS/CFT: Bulk Fields from Boundary States, 1505.05069.
- [18] X. Xiao, Holographic representation of local operators in de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D90 (2014), no. 2 024061 [1402.7080].
- [19] D. Sarkar and X. Xiao, *Holographic Representation of Higher Spin Gauge Fields*, *Phys. Rev.* D91 (2015), no. 8 086004 [1411.4657].
- [20] R. Bousso, A. Maloney and A. Strominger, Conformal vacua and entropy in de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D65 (2002) 104039 [hep-th/0112218].
- [21] A. Castro, N. Lashkari and A. Maloney, A de Sitter Farey Tail, Phys. Rev. D83 (2011) 124027 [1103.4620].
- [22] E. Witten, Quantization of Chern-Simons Gauge Theory With Complex Gauge Group, Commun. Math. Phys. 137 (1991) 29–66.
- [23] A. Hamilton, D. N. Kabat, G. Lifschytz and D. A. Lowe, Local bulk operators in AdS/CFT: A Boundary view of horizons and locality, Phys. Rev. D73 (2006) 086003 [hep-th/0506118].

- [24] A. Hamilton, D. N. Kabat, G. Lifschytz and D. A. Lowe, *Holographic representation of local bulk operators*, *Phys. Rev.* D74 (2006) 066009 [hep-th/0606141].
- [25] R. Bousso, B. Freivogel, S. Leichenauer, V. Rosenhaus and C. Zukowski, Null Geodesics, Local CFT Operators and AdS/CFT for Subregions, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 064057 [1209.4641].
- [26] A. Chatterjee and D. A. Lowe, *dS/CFT and the operator product expansion*, *Phys. Rev.* D96 (2017), no. 6 066031 [1612.07785].
- [27] D. Anninos, F. Denef, R. Monten and Z. Sun, *Higher Spin de Sitter Hilbert Space*, JHEP 10 (2019) 071 [1711.10037].
- [28] K. Goto and T. Takayanagi, CFT descriptions of bulk local states in the AdS black holes, JHEP 10 (2017) 153 [1704.00053].
- [29] D. Anninos and E. Harris, *Three-dimensional de Sitter horizon thermodynamics*, *JHEP* 10 (2021) 091 [2106.13832].
- [30] Y. Hikida, T. Nishioka, T. Takayanagi and Y. Taki, *Holography in de Sitter Space via Chern-Simons Gauge Theory*, 2110.03197.
- [31] Y. Hikida, T. Nishioka, T. Takayanagi and Y. Taki, *CFT duals of three-dimensional de Sitter* gravity, 2203.02852.
- [32] D. Anninos, F. Denef, Y. T. A. Law and Z. Sun, *Quantum de Sitter horizon entropy from quasicanonical bulk, edge, sphere and topological string partition functions, JHEP* 01 (2022) 088 [2009.12464].
- [33] Z. Sun, AdS one-loop partition functions from bulk and edge characters, JHEP **12** (2021) 064 [2010.15826].
- [34] Z. Sun, *Higher spin de Sitter quasinormal modes*, *JHEP* **11** (2021) 025 [2010.09684].
- [35] E. Joung, J. Mourad and R. Parentani, Group theoretical approach to quantum fields in de Sitter space. I. The Principle series, JHEP 08 (2006) 082 [hep-th/0606119].
- [36] E. Joung, J. Mourad and R. Parentani, *Group theoretical approach to quantum fields in de Sitter space. II. The complementary and discrete series, JHEP* **09** (2007) 030 [0707.2907].
- [37] T. Basile, X. Bekaert and N. Boulanger, *Mixed-symmetry fields in de Sitter space: a group theoretical glance, JHEP* **05** (2017) 081 [1612.08166].
- [38] S. Deser and R. I. Nepomechie, *Gauge Invariance Versus Masslessness in De Sitter Space*, *Annals Phys.* **154** (1984) 396.
- [39] C. de Rham, K. Hinterbichler, R. A. Rosen and A. J. Tolley, *Evidence for and obstructions to nonlinear partially massless gravity*, *Phys. Rev. D* 88 (2013), no. 2 024003 [1302.0025].